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GERMAN BATTLESHIPS 1939–45

INTRODUCTION

Following the end of the First World War and the scuttling of the High Seas Fleet at Scapa Flow on 21 June 1919, the new Reichsmarine of the Weimar Republic was greatly restricted in the size of navy it was permitted. Those major warships that had not been scuttled were demanded by the Allies in recompense for those destroyed at Scapa, leaving Germany a handful of smaller, old and obsolete dreadnoughts built at the beginning of the 20th century. The purpose of the Reichsmarine, initially under the command of Admiral von Trotha and subsequently Admiral Behnke, was, in the eyes of the Allies, simply to defend Germany’s coastline, so it was considered that a restriction to eight capital ships would be sufficient. A maximum tonnage of 10,000 tonnes was set on new builds. Existing capital ships were to be at least 15 to 20 years old before they could be replaced by newly built vessels so that Braunschweig, Lothringen, Preussen, Hessen, Schleswig-Holstein, Schlesien, Elsass and Hannover would be required to serve for some years to come.
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The two dreadnoughts Schlesien (left) and Schleswig-Holstein (right) in their post-refit form, with the forward funnel removed. This pre-1935 photograph shows the old flag of the Reichsmarine being flown on the bow flagstaff.

Accordingly, in the mid-1920s, these vessels were upgraded and modernised as far as possible. Hessen, Schleswig-Holstein and Schlesien were the only three still in service when the National Socialists came to power and Hitler set his sights on rebuilding the German Navy, but Hessen was taken out of service shortly thereafter, leaving only Schleswig-Holstein and Schlesien still in service when the Kriegsmarine was formally created in May 1935.

The terminology used to describe the vessels covered in this book may require some clarification. These elderly dreadnoughts were classified by the Germans as Linienschiffe, literally ‘Ships of the Line’. As vessels officially classed as dreadnoughts, however, they certainly fall into the category of what is normally considered a battleship. The first major capital ships to be built for the German Navy after the end of the First World War were the so-called Panzerschiffe, which became widely known as ‘pocket battleships’ due to their very powerful armament. In reality, however, these could be more accurately classified as particularly powerful heavy cruisers, something the Germans themselves accepted when the Panzerschiff designation was dropped and they were reclassified as Schwere Kreuzer. Still commonly referred to today as pocket battleships, these are therefore not covered in this book and will be the subject of a separate title.

Following the Panzerschiffe came the Scharnhorst and Gneisenau, classified by the Germans as Schlachtschiffe or ‘battleships’. Although extremely large and relatively powerfully armed, with 9 x 28cm guns, they would not be able to hold their own against 15-inch-gun battleships of the Royal Navy, nor indeed was it ever intended that they should. These vessels were more akin to a battlecruiser but are included in this work as they were officially classified by the Germans as battleships. Finally, of course, the most powerful warships ever to have been commissioned into the German Navy, the Bismarck and her sister the Tirpitz, fully warrant inclusion in any work dealing with battleships.

All of Germany’s new capital ships were in fact designed as surface raiders, created to wreak havoc on enemy merchant shipping, but with sufficiently powerful armament to give a good account of themselves should they face enemy warships. However, it was never the intent that any of these ships should seek engagement with major units of the enemy navy. Germany’s battleships were few in number and a scarce resource that required careful husbanding. The single biggest contribution to the war that was provided by these vessels was probably in tying down substantial numbers of enemy warships in case they should break out into the open Atlantic, and in searching for them when and if they did. The Bismarck chase was a prime example of this.
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The Schlesien and Schleswig-Holstein, though obsolete, were still large and impressive warships and drew onlookers wherever they moored.


THE DREADNOUGHT

Although of the same class, the two veterans were built in different yards, Schlesien at the Schichau yard in Danzig and Schleswig-Holstein at the Germaniawerft in Kiel. The ships were both built as three-stackers but during refit both had the two forward funnels trunked into a single stack. The bridge area on each was also substantially remodelled. Both, as built, featured 14 x 10.5cm guns, ten of which were set into sponsons on the hull side. Although later reduced to three each side, this rather antiquated configuration was retained. By the outbreak of war, both Schlesien and Schleswig-Holstein had been relegated to training duties, being totally unsuited for modern naval warfare.



	SCHLESIEN AND SCHLESWIG-HOLSTEIN SPECIFICATIONS



	Displacement
	13,040 tonnes



	Length
	125.9m



	Beam
	7.6m



	Propulsion
	3 x 17,000hp coal/oil-fired engines



	Speed
	16 knots



	Armament
	4 x 28cm guns in two twin turrets



	
	6 x 15cm guns



	
	10 x 4cm flak guns



	
	22 x 2cm flak guns



	Crew
	725




Linienschiff Schleswig-Holstein

On 1 September 1939 Schleswig-Holstein took its place in history when it fired the opening shots of the Second World War. The ship, under the command of Kapitän zur See Gustav Kleinkamp, was sent on what purported to be a ceremonial visit to Danzig to honour the anniversary of the sinking of the German cruiser Magdeburg in the Gulf of Finland in August 1914. Its crew having taken part in various ceremonies, including a parade accompanied by the ship’s band, the Schleswig-Holstein was towed into a well-chosen firing position opposite the Polish fortress on the Westerplatte and an assault force of marines landed.
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An excellent broadside study of Scharnhorst as originally completed. At this point she was almost identical to Gneisenau.
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Schleswig-Holstein after her refit. Note the new Reichskriegs-flagge being flown in this post-1935 photograph. Note also the large bronze eagle and swastika mounted on her hullside near the stern.

At 0447hrs on 1 September, Schleswig-Holstein opened fire at the Westerplatte fortress at a range of just 500 metres. Despite continued bombardment, the Polish defenders hung on tenaciously for fully seven days. At 1030hrs on 8 September, their fortress reduced to rubble, the Polish garrison surrendered. Incredibly, of the 200-man garrison, only 15 were killed. The Germans were so impressed by the gallantry of the Poles that the attackers stood to attention as the defenders marched out to surrender.

The Schleswig-Holstein subsequently took part in the occupation of Denmark before once again being relegated to training duties, as the flagship of the Chief of Training Units of the navy, a situation which continued until mid-1944 when her anti-aircraft armament was considerably enhanced with the intention of using her as a flak ship to provide additional anti-aircraft defences for the port of Gotenhafen. In December 1944, however, she was seriously damaged in a bombing attack and gradually settled on an even keel in Gotenhafen harbour, in water just 12 m deep. Although no longer mobile, she was still capable of using her armament, until finally a fire on board put her permanently out of action. The bulk of her crew was then sent to the front to assist with the defence of Marienburg.

Linienschiff Schlesien

The Schlesien’s wartime career was even less exciting that that of her sister. Used as a training ship for officer cadets until the beginning of 1940, she then spent a period of time acting as an ice-breaker for the U-boat fleet. She was used briefly during the invasion of Denmark until being withdrawn from active service in July 1940 and used as an accommodation ship.

In March 1941 she returned once again to service as an ice-breaker for a brief period before seeing limited service in the Baltic providing escort cover for minelaying operations intended to prevent any break-out by the Soviet Navy. Thereafter she was once again used as an accommodation ship in Gotenhafen. From 1941 until 1944 she was under the control of the Chief of Training Units of the navy.

As with her sister, in late 1944 her flak armament was significantly improved, and from early 1945 she helped provide improved anti-aircraft defence for Gotenhafen.
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Schlesien, post-refit. The two sisters were virtually identical by this point.

In April 1945, she moved from Gotenhafen to Swinemünde to restock with ammunition, and at the same time transported over 1,000 wounded soldiers back from the front for treatment. On 3 May she struck a mine north-west of Swinemünde and settled in shallow water. Like Schleswig-Holstein, her guns remained active and provided much needed fire support to army units.
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